#### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/12/2021 4:22 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON -CLERK

No. \_99656-3

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 79696-8-I)

ROSE DAVIS, as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Renee L. Davis, deceased,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

KING COUNTY, et al.,

Defendants/Appellees.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorneys for Defendants/Appellees:

Kris Bundy, WSBA #19840 Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Bundy Law Group, PLLC PO Box 2543 Bellingham, WA 98227 Tel: (206) 372-3627 Ted Buck, WSBA #22029 Evan Bariault, WSBA#42867 FREY BUCK, P.S. 1200 Fifth Avenue, Ste 1900 Seattle, WA 98101 Tel: (206) 486-8000

####

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal arises from the tragic death of Respondent Renee Davis, who during a police welfare check brandished a firearm at deputies with the admitted "intent to provoke law enforcement to kill her ...." The trial court dismissed the case under the Felony Bar Statute, Wash. Rev. Code § 4.24.420, concluding that Ms. Davis committed the felony of Second- or Third-Degree Assault. The appellate court originally affirmed the trial court, but on reconsideration reversed itself; in doing so it discarded plaintiff's admission and other key evidence and authority regarding the operation of the statute.

Review is warranted on two alternative grounds—the opinion conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals in multiple respects, and it involves an issue of substantial public importance. The decision conflicts both with Division Three's opinion in *Estate of Lee ex. Rel. Lee. v. City of Spokane*, 101 Wn. App. 158, 2. P.3d 979 (2000) (and related appellate court opinions) and with its own opinion in *Watness v. City of Seattle*, 16 Wn. App. 2d 297, 2021 *Wash. App. LEXIS* 321 (Wash. Ct. App. 2021),<sup>1</sup> a case decided just two weeks after this one. Further, the opinion addresses the application of a statute for which sparse authority exists, and trial courts would benefit significantly from this Court's guidance. Petitioners respectfully request this Court grant review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and affirm the trial court's dismissal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A copy of the slip opinion is attached as Appendix B.

#### **II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS**

Petitioners are Defendants King County along with Deputy Nicholas Pritchett, Deputy Timothy Lewis, and former King County Sheriff John Urquhart (collectively absent the County, "Individual Officers").

#### III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners respectfully seek review of the Court of Appeal's published decision ("Decision"), *Davis v. King Cty., et al.*, 16 Wn. App. 2d 64, 479 P.3d 1181 (2021)<sup>2</sup>.

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Decision conflicts with the *Estate of Lee ex. Rel. Lee. v. City of Spokane*, 101 Wn. App. 158, 2. P.3d 979 (2000) by permitting a plaintiff to defeat the felony bar statute at summary judgment by holding that a court may not infer intent to commit a crime even where a plaintiff points a gun at law enforcement officers and her estate fully admits that her intent was to provoke a deadly response?

2. Whether the Decision conflicts with *Watness v. City of Seattle, et al.*, by permitting a plaintiff to defeat the felony bar statute at summary judgment by claiming diminished capacity without any evidence or experts to show that plaintiff's alleged mental condition resulted in her having the inability to form the mental state required for felony assault?

3. Whether a defendant is barred from employing the felony defense pursuant to RCW 4.24.420 at summary judgment where material facts are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A copy of the Decision is attached as Appendix A.

not in dispute and plaintiff is either deceased or unavailable to testify based on privilege (e.g., 5<sup>th</sup> Amendment)?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. RELEVANT FACTS.

On October 21, 2016, at approximately 6:30 p.m., King County Sheriff Deputy Nicholas Pritchett was parked in his patrol car at the Muckleshoot Reservation Powwow Grounds. CP 115; 247. Ms. Davis' boyfriend, TJ Molina, approached Deputy Pritchett; Molina appeared upset and said something along the lines of, "I can't deal with her when she's like this. She's going crazy again." CP 116-118. Deputy Pritchett was familiar with Mr. Molina and learned that Molina was talking about Renee Davis. CP 112-114; 246. Deputy Pritchett was also familiar with Ms. Davis as he had responded to incidents at her home in which she was a victim of domestic violence. CP 112.

Molina showed Deputy Pritchett a series of text messages from Ms. Davis. CP 118. The text messages were sent between 5:10 p.m. and 6:28 p.m. that day and read as follows: "Bring your bike over your rifle will be on the porch"; "Answer the phone"; "Well come get the girls or call 911 I'm about to shoot myself"; "I'm put that on my mom"; "This is to show you I'm not lying." CP 223-35. The final text message was accompanied by a photograph of what appeared to be a "red gash on human skin." CP 119; CP 225. Deputy Pritchett was very concerned by the text messages and the photograph as it evidenced someone was potentially seriously injured. CP 119. Deputy Pritchett asked Mr. Molina if Ms. Davis had access to firearms, and Mr. Molina said she had a 30-30 rifle. CP 120.

Deputy Pritchett advised dispatch of the information received from Mr. Molina and that he was heading to Ms. Davis' residence to do a welfare check. CP 125-28. The following information was logged in the computer-aided dispatch (CAD): "suicidal female, possibly armed with a rifle and has her two children with her," "she's texting pics of fresh injuries, unsure who is injured," and "female is Davis, Renee possibly born in 1993." CP 161; 311. Deputy Pritchett requested backup to assist and learned that backup was approximately 20 minutes away. CP 127. He then asked dispatch to check with the Auburn Police Department to see if they had any units available to respond. *CP 128*. Deputy Pritchett was concerned about a delay in investigating the circumstance, given that Ms. Davis or someone else at the residence could be bleeding out because of the wound he had been shown or other related injuries. CP 141-42; 145. He was also concerned that Ms. Davis might shoot herself. *Id.* .

Deputy Timothy Lewis, who was off-duty and on his way home from the firing range, heard Deputy Pritchett's request and advised dispatch that he could respond and back Deputy Pritchett. CP 169-171. While waiting for backup, Deputy Pritchett drove to Ms. Davis' neighborhood. He parked near her house and approached on foot to investigate signs of distress or concerning sounds. CP 128-130. After reviewing the scene, Deputy Pritchett returned to his patrol car and waited for backup. CP 130-32. Deputy Lewis arrived and met Deputy Pritchett at his patrol car. CP 175. Deputy Pritchett informed Deputy Lewis about what he learned from Mr. Molina, that he had surveyed the outside of the home, and the two discussed how they would try to contact Ms. Davis and the kids at the residence. CP 132; 176; 178. Both recognized the exigencies involved, specifically that Ms. Davis may have harmed herself and they needed to act quickly to make sure she was okay. CP 134; 181. Deputy Pritchard was in uniform: Deputy Lewis wore a vest that identified him as "POLICE." CP 176. The deputies approached the home on foot. CP 133-34; 180-81.

Outside the residence neither deputy could hear any sounds coming from the home. CP 134; 182. Deputy Pritchett knocked on the front door, announced himself as police, and received no response. CP 144. Deputy Lewis knocked on the side of the house, calling for Ms. Davis by using her first name, and announced that he was a police officer. CP 187. The deputies knocked for several minutes and received no response. CP 139; 187-88. Both deputies were very concerned that Ms. Davis may have harmed herself and was so injured that she was incapable of responding. CP 140-42; 201.

While looking through a crack in the blinds of a front window, Deputy Lewis saw a young child. CP 194. A child then moved the blinds and looked at Deputy Lewis. CP 195. He asked the child if she could come to the door and she nodded and opened the front door. CP 139-40; 195. The deputies entered and found two small children alone, each appeared to be under the age of five. CP 142-43; 196-97. Deputy Lewis moved the children to the front porch area of the residence, and Deputy Pritchett began searching the common areas of the home. CP 145-47; 198-200. As Deputy Lewis moved the children towards the porch, he asked one of the children where "mommy's room" was; the child pointed to a door in the hallway. CP 200. Deputy Lewis then returned and provided cover to Deputy Pritchett; both called out for Ms. Davis and announced themselves as police. CP 147; 200. They received no response. Needing to confirm Ms. Davis' welfare, the deputies moved to the bedroom.

While Deputy Lewis covered the hallway, Deputy Pritchett knocked on the bedroom door and again announced himself as a police officer. CP 148. He received no response. *Id.* . The doorknob to the bedroom was covered by a child safety device that Deputy Pritchett, who was wearing gloves, could not manipulate. He knocked the device off the doorknob with his foot and then opened the bedroom door with his hand. *Id.* . Once the door was open, Deputy Pritchett saw Ms. Davis and summoned Deputy Lewis. CP 147-48; 202; 205. Both deputies entered with Deputy Lewis to Deputy Pritchett's left. CP 149; 203. Ms. Davis was lying in bed with a blanket pulled up to her neck. CP 149-150; 204.

Deputy Pritchett then asked Ms. Davis to show her hands and remove the blanket. CP 150. She responded "no." *Id.*. Concerned she was injured or possibly armed, Deputy Pritchett pulled the blanket off Ms. Davis. CP 150-52. Both deputies immediately saw that Davis was holding a handgun in her right hand and a magazine in her left hand. CP 153; 207. Neither knew whether the gun held a second magazine or a bullet in the gun's chamber. Plaintiff's police practices expert testified the deputies should have assumed the weapon was loaded. CP 215. Deputy Lewis yelled "gun," and both deputies retreated toward the doorway. CP 154; 206-08. Ms. Davis sat up in bed, raised her right arm and pointed the gun at the deputies in the doorway. CP 154-56; 206-08. Deputy Lewis ordered her to drop the gun, but she did not comply; the deputies fired upon Ms. Davis. *Id*.

Ms. Davis slumped down to her right side and fell off the bed between the wall and the bed. CP 156-57; 207. Deputy Pritchett announced "shots fired" over the air. CP 162. Deputy Lewis thereafter moved out of the room to go check on the children. CP 207. An Auburn police officer arrived within seconds and took control of the children, placing them in his patrol car. CP 210. Deputy Pritchett secured Ms. Davis' handgun, called for aid, and moved Ms. Davis to a location where aid could be provided. CP 157-58. Fire department medics who had been alerted to the circumstance earlier and were pre-positioned at the scene moved in and undertook unsuccessful lifesaving measures. CP 159.

The estate filed a wrongful death action. CP 1-19.

#### **B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY.**

#### 1. TRIAL COURT SUMMARY JUDGMENT DISMISSAL.

Petitioners filed separate summary judgment motions on the estate's claims, based in part on the Felony Bar Statute. CP 70-104. In response, plaintiff admitted that "Renee was indeed armed, suicidal, and 'engaged in

<u>behavior with the intent to provoke law enforcement to kill her</u>' by brandishing a firearm." Supp. CP 526-27. Plaintiff followed that admission with the following definition of "suicide by cop":

[W]here a suicidal individual <u>intentionally engages in life-</u> <u>threatening and criminal behavior</u> with a lethal weapon or what appears to be a lethal weapon toward law enforcement officers or civilians <u>specifically to provoke officers to shoot</u> the suicidal individual in self-defense[.]

*Id.* at 527 (emphasis added). Plaintiff argued King County "had no deescalation or suicide by cop policies, and implemented little to no training on the topics." *Id.* at 527-28. To further support her suicide-by-cop theory, plaintiff relied upon the expert report of Dr. Jennifer Piel. Dr. Piel opined that based on Ms. Davis' mental health history and two prior suicide attempts, Ms. Davis intended to commit suicide by cop:

#### Based on the sources of information reviewed, the evidence leads me to conclude that Ms. Davis engaged in behavior with the intent to provoke law enforcement to kill her (suicide by cop).

CP 373. Plaintiff then inaccurately argued that the only felony at issue was First Degree Assault, which requires "intent to inflict great bodily harm"; she argued that element could not be met when <u>a subject's intent is "to</u> commit suicide by provoking police into shooting h[er]." Supp. CP 535-56.

In short, plaintiff admitted and argued to the trial court that her specific intent was to create an apprehension of harm to provoke the deputies into shooting her by pointing a gun at them and presented expert testimony to bolster that claim. There was no evidence, either through expert or lay witnesses, that Ms. Davis did not have the capacity to form the intent to commit the felonies; the trial court found the elements of Assault in the Second or Third Degree were met and dismissed plaintiff's claims under the felony bar statute.

#### 2. PLAINTIFF APPEALS TO DIVISION ONE.

Plaintiff appealed the dismissal before Division One of the Court of Appeals. For the first time on appeal, plaintiff argued "diminished capacity," an argument not raised at the trial court and one that contradicted her admissions to the trial court along with the expert report submitted by plaintiff. Defendants moved to strike plaintiff's argument as it was raised for the first time on appeal and relied on materials never presented to the trial court. Division One denied the motion without explanation.

#### 3. DIVISION ONE AFFIRMS THE TRIAL COURT.

On August 31, 2020, the panel issued an unpublished opinion<sup>3</sup> affirming the trial court's dismissal under the felony bar statute:

But, even viewing these facts in the light most favorable to Davis, there is no dispute that both officers testified that Davis raised and pointed the gun directly at them before they shot. The act of pointing a gun at someone supports a determination that there was an intent to create apprehension of bodily injury. The trial court did not err when it concluded that there was not a dispute of material fact about whether Davis formed the requisite intent to find that she was engaged in the commission of a felony at the time of her death. ...

Without facts demonstrating the possibility that Davis did not point her gun at deputies, the estate cannot create a dispute of material fact sufficient to overcome the felony bar statute.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A copy of the unpublished opinion is attached as Appendix C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Appendix C, Slip. Op. at \*8-19, 14 (emphasis added).

On September 21, 2020, plaintiff moved for reconsideration and to publish.

Petitioners filed an answer on December 7, 2020.

#### 4. DIVISION ONE REVERSES ITSELF.

On February 5, 2021, Division One granted reconsideration and published a new opinion reversing the trial court's summary judgment dismissal. *Davis v. King Cty.*, 16 Wn. App. 2d 64, 479 P.3d 1181 (2021) ("Davis"). The opinion held in relevant part:

In granting summary judgment, the trial court relied on the testimony of Deputies Pritchett and Lewis, that Davis pointed a weapon at them, to infer her intent to commit felony assault. This was error. As the estate argues, the evidence in the record before us raises numerous questions of fact over whether Davis intended to commit an assault. This evidence includes Davis's history of mental illness and attempted suicide, the deputies' conflicting testimony about where the gun and clip were located, their testimony that she pointed the gun at each of them—apparently at the same time, Davis's dying statement that "It's not even loaded," and the conflicting testimony whether the gun was found in Davis's hand on the floor, or still on the bed. While a jury might find the officers' testimony credible and Davis's act of pointing the gun demonstrates her intent to commit an assault, it might also conclude to the contrary. The trial court erred in concluding Davis had the requisite specific intent to commit assault.

*Id.* at 74.<sup>5</sup> Not only does the *Davis* opinion fail to reference plaintiff's admissions to the trial court regarding her intent to commit suicide by cop or Dr. Piel's expert opinion supporting the admission, but its reversal of summary judgment relies almost entirely on plaintiff's "diminished capacity" defense raised for the first time on appeal. The new opinion makes no reference to the fact this was a new argument or that petitioners moved to strike this new argument.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Appendix A, Slip Op. at \*9-10.

#### 5. WATNESS V. CITY OF SEATTLE, ET AL.

On February 16, 2021, Division One issued its ruling in *Watness*. There, Seattle police officers shot Charleena Lyles after she threatened them with a knife.<sup>6</sup> The defendants sought summary judgment under the felony bar statute. In response plaintiffs presented expert opinion that Lyles did not have the requisite *mens rea* to commit first degree assault.<sup>7</sup> The trial court excluded plaintiff's expert opinion and granted summary judgment pursuant to the felony bar defense, RCW 4.24.420.<sup>8</sup>

The *Watness* court reversed the trial court's dismissal, relying on its February 1, 2021 opinion in *Davis*. In addressing the *Davis* facts, the *Watness* court stated "the [Davis] trial court granted summary judgment for the deputies, ruling that Davis was engaged in the commission of first degree assault when the deputies killed her[.]"<sup>9</sup> The *Watness* court claimed it reversed Davis "concluding that specific intent is an essential element of first degree assault" and that plaintiff "raised a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Davis had formed the requisite intent to commit assault."<sup>10</sup> The *Watness* recitation of the history of this case was plainly erroneous – the *Davis* trial court did not grant summary judgment based on a ruling that Davis was engaged in *first degree* assault.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> 16 Wn. App. 2d at 303; App. B., Slip Op. at 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id.* at 304; App. B., Slip Op. at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Id. at 304-05; App. B., Slip Op. at 5-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> *Id.* at 309; App. B., Slip Op. at 10-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> *Id.* (emphasis added).

#### 6. PETITIONERS' REQUEST FOR RECONSIDERATION.

As the *Davis* holding made no reference to plaintiff's admissions, conflicted with its holding two-weeks later in *Watness*, and the *Watness* ruling suggested Division One may have confused the facts between the two cases, petitioners sought reconsideration. The motion was denied.

#### VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court should accept review under both RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4). First, the Decision "is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals." *Id.* Indeed, the *Davis* decision conflicts with multiple appellate decisions. In *Estate of Lee ex. Rel. Lee. v. City of Spokane*, a case that is virtually identical factually regarding the felony threat presented to officers, Division Three applied RCW 4.24.420 at the summary judgment level to dismiss the plaintiff's claims. The *Davis* holding conflicts with *Lee*.

Second, the *Davis* court's holding that "Davis's history of mental illness and attempted suicide" creates a genuine issue of fact as to whether "Davis had the requisite specific intent to commit assault" conflicts with its opinion in *Watness*. The *Watness* court held that to support a diminished capacity defense a party "must present evidence of a mental disorder and expert testimony must logically and reasonably connect the [party's] alleged mental condition with the asserted inability to form the mental state required for the crime charged[.]" 16 Wn. App. 2d at 310. *Davis* conflicts with *Watness* because Davis never produced any evidence that she suffered from a mental condition that diminished her capacity. Indeed, Davis presented evidence through an expert that her intent was very clear – to intentionally provoke law enforcement officers into shooting her. The holdings in *Watness* and *Davis* directly conflict.

The Court should further accept review as this matter "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). Very few cases have addressed the statutory felony defense, and review will help trial and appellate courts better understand how to apply the defense. This is most important where the plaintiff is either deceased or elects not to testify. The *Davis* holding suggests that under that scenario the felony defense is effectively never available at the summary judgment stage. Such an application is erroneous and would defeat a key purpose behind the defense.

#### A. THE DECISION CONFLICTS WITH ESTATE OF LEE EX. REL. LEE V. CITY OF SPOKANE ALONG WITH RELATED APPELLATE DECISIONS REGARDING INTENT.

The *Davis* court's holding that the trial court erred when it "relied on the testimony of Deputies Pritchett and Lewis, that Davis pointed a weapon at them, to infer her intent commit felony assault"<sup>11</sup> conflicts with numerous Washington appellate opinions holding such evidence is sufficient to infer intent. Most notably, the Decision conflicts with *Lee*, which is a virtually identical case that upheld the application of the Felony Bar Statute. 101 Wn. App. at 177. In a footnote, the Decision acknowledged *Lee*, but failed to distinguish it.<sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> 16 Wn. App. 2d at 74; App. A., Slip. Op. at 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Id. at 73, fn. 3; App. A., Slip. Op. at 9, fn. 3.

In *Lee*, the defendant officers had probable cause to arrest the decedent for domestic violence. The officers and Lee's wife went to the door of the Lee's residence. Lee's wife attempted to unlock the door to the residence, but he held the lock in a locked position. Lee's wife asked him several times to let her in and he responded, "get the f\*\*\* out of here ... or two people are going to die tonight." 101 Wn. App. at 164. Shortly thereafter Lee opened the front door holding a rifle pointed down. *Id*. When officers ordered him to drop the gun, he refused; instead he raised it and pointing it at one of the officers. *Id*. One officer fired a single shot killing Lee. The appellate court reversed the trial court's denial of summary judgment, holding RCW 4.24.420 barred plaintiff's state law claims because he was committing a felony when he pointed a gun at the officers and his wife. *Id*. at 177.

As in *Lee*, there is no dispute here that Ms. Davis pointed a gun at the deputies. As a result of and during Ms. Davis's commission of this felony, she was shot and died from her injuries, an outcome she argued she specifically intended in support of her claims against the county.

Reviewing the undisputed evidence, the trial court properly found:

Given the undisputed facts in this case, Ms. Davis pointed a firearm at Deputy Pritchett and Deputy [Lewis] ... which prompted them to open fire on her and cause her death. Any contrary information is purely speculation. There isn't any evidence to support it.

RP (54:1-7). The *Davis* holding reversing summary judgment clearly conflicts with *Lee*.

The Decision also conflicts with other cases consistent with *Lee*. These cases generally permit a court to infer intent from objective evidence and plaintiff's own admissions and evidence and to grant summary judgment on the felony bar statute when no evidence contradicts the circumstantial evidence of intent. For example, *State v. Bea*, 162 Wn. App. 570, 579, 254 P.3d 948 (2011) reads:

> Where there is no direct evidence of the actor's intended objective or purpose, intent may be inferred from circumstantial evidence. A jury may infer criminal intent from a defendant's conduct where it is plainly indicated as a matter of logical probability. This includes inferring or permissively presuming that a defendant intends the natural and probable consequences of his or her acts.

(citations omitted). *See also State v. Gallo*, 20 Wn. App. 717, 729, 582 P.2d 558 (1978) ("Intent is rarely provable by direct evidence, but may be gathered, nevertheless, from all of the circumstances surrounding the event."). A court may infer the requisite intent to cause reasonable fear of harm where a defendant wields a deadly weapon in a menacing or threatening manner towards a particular person. *See, e.g., State v. Hupe*, 50 Wn. App. 277, 748 P.2d 263 (1988) (upholding conviction of assault with unloaded rifle), disapproved of on other grounds by *State v. Smith*, 159 Wn.2d 778, 154 P.3d 873 (2007); *State v. Krup*, 36 Wn. App. 454, 676 P.2d 507 (1984) (upholding second degree assault conviction where defendant pointed knife at victim, threatened to kill her, and stabbed knife into countertop before exiting victim's store); RCW 9A.04.110(6) (definition of deadly weapon includes "loaded or unloaded firearm").

Intent may and often does present a factual question for a jury if material disputed facts exist. Here, however, plaintiff has never presented any facts disputing that Ms. Davis pointed a firearm at the deputies. Instead, she admitted that fact and produced expert evidence to support it. *Davis* does not refute this fact, instead it holds a jury must decide whether Ms. Davis intended to assault the officers when she pointed the gun at them. That holding ignores the absence of a disputed fact, ignores plaintiff's admissions, and ignores the only evidence before the trial court – Dr. Piel's expert's opinion that she *did* have the requisite intent. Indeed, a jury could only reach a different conclusion through speculation. The trial court noted that it may rely on objective circumstantial evidence where no facts exist to support a different conclusion. RP (29:17-30:8) ("But where are there any facts that would allow a jury to draw any other conclusion?").

A reviewing court may not ignore plaintiff's admissions, arguments, and undisputed evidence before the trial court showing there was no dispute as to Ms. Davis' intent. Nor can it ignore the fact the trial court relied upon those admissions and arguments in reaching its determination. Our process does not allow litigants to assert a position/theory, have their case dismissed on the theory they proposed, and then rest their appeal on an entirely different and contradictory premise.<sup>13</sup> *Smith v. Shannon*, 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983); RAP 2.5. Doing so here was invited error, which the Court of Appeals should not have allowed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The reason for this rule is to afford the trial court an opportunity to correct any error, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals and retrials.

Review is necessary to address the *Davis*'s conflict with other appellate opinions and the obvious error of ignoring the record on *de novo* review.

### **B.** *DAVIS* ALSO CONFLICTS WITH THE EVIDENTIARY REQUIREMENT REAFFIRMED IN WATNESS.

In *Watness*, the appellate court held summary judgment was improper because the plaintiff presented evidence through an expert that Ms. Lyles could not form the requisite intent to commit assault with a deadly weapon or attempted murder. Addressing whether this evidence was sufficient to create an issue of fact for summary judgment, the *Watness* court held:

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