FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/12/2021 10:12 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 996563

Court of Appeals No. 79696-8-I

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROSE DAVIS, as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Renee L. Davis, deceased,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KING COUNTY, et al.,

Defendants-Petitioners.

## **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

GABRIEL S. GALANDA, WSBA #30331 RYAN D. DREVESKRACHT, WSBA #42593 GALANDA BROADMAN, PLLC 8606 35th Avenue NE, Ste. L1 P.O. Box 15146 Seattle, WA 98115 (206) 557-7509 Attorneys for Plaintiff- Respondent

#

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

## A. THE COURT OF APPEALS' OPINION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH LEE V. CITY OF SPOKANE.

The entire analysis of RCW 4.24.420 in *Lee v. City of Spokane* was as follows: "By the plaintiffs' own account, Mr. Lee pointed a gun at Officer Langford and Ms. Lee after threatening to shoot them. This is first degree assault, a felony." 101 Wash. App. 158, 177, 2 P.3d 979, 991 (2000) (citing RCW 9A.36.011). As the Court of Appeals acknowledged in its Opinion, *Lee* "did not discuss intent, much less, conclude that intent could be inferred by the trial court on summary judgment."<sup>3</sup> *Davis*, 479 P.3d at 1186. In addition, unlike *Lee*, Respondent here has constantly and adamantly maintained that inconsistencies in the involved officers' testimony requires a jury to determine whether Renee pointed a gun at all.<sup>4</sup> And the Court of Appeals agreed. *See Davis*, 479 P.3d at 1187 ("While a jury might find the officers' testimony credible . . . it might also conclude to the contrary.").

To be clear, the Court of Appeals did not hold, and Respondent does not argue, that a jury may not infer intent. To the contrary, as the Court of Appeals found, case law makes absolutely clear that while intent is always jury question, **a jury** is free to infer

As the Court of Appeals explained in Watness v. City of Seattle:

*Lee* contains no discussion of whether the aggressor's *mens rea* should be considered when adjudicating a defendant's immunity under RCW 4.24.420. Generally, in cases where a legal issue is not discussed in an opinion, the case is not controlling on a future case where the legal issue is properly raised. *Lee* does not discuss *mens rea* under RCW 4.24.420 and is not controlling here.

<sup>16</sup> Wash. App. 2d 297, 481 P.3d 570, 579 (2021) (citation omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Again, Respondent has never "admitted" that "Ms. Davis pointed a firearm at the deputies." Petition for Review, at 16. At most, Respondent has argued that "<u>if</u> Renee did point a gun" she did not possess "intent to inflict great bodily harm" required by RCW 9A.36.011(1)—the only felony that Petitioners were alleging at that time that Renee Davis committed. CR 536 (emphasis added).

intent from circumstantial evidence. *Davis*, 479 P.3d at 1186 (citing *Morissette*, 342 U.S. at 274; *Bea*, 162 Wash. App. at 579; and *Wingert*, 146 Wash.2d at 849). The authority cited by Petitioners themselves supports this rule. *See* Petition for Review, at 15 ("<u>A</u> <u>jury</u> may infer criminal intent from a defendant's conduct where it is plainly indicated as a matter of logical probability.") (quoting *Bea*, 162 Wn. App. at 579) (emphasis added); *see also generally id*. (citing to criminal cases upholding <u>jury verdicts</u> based on circumstantial evidence).

Numerous state jurisdictions also follow the rule that "[w]here intent of the accused is an element of the crime charged, its existence is a question of fact for the jury. The question of intent cannot be ruled upon as a matter of law." *State v. Howe*, 247 N.W.2d 647, 655 (N.D. 1976); *see also Pratt v. State*, 492 N.E.2d 300, 302 (Ind. 1986) ("[W]hether or not [a defendant]'s intoxication prevented him from forming the requisite *mens rea* was a question of fact . . . ."); *Shackelford v. State*, 486 N.E.2d 1014, 1017 (Ind. 1986) ("Whether appellant's voluntary intoxication was sufficient to preclude the formulation of the requisite *mens rea* is a question of fact for the jury."); *Rush v. Alaska Mortgage Group*, 937 P.2d 647, 651 (Alaska 1997) (same).

U.S. District Courts have likewise universally held that "[w]hether a party formed the adequate mens rea is a question of fact that cannot be decided [as a matter of law]." Greenbank v. Great Am. Assurance Co., No. 18-0239, 2019 WL 4542690, at \*7 (S.D. Ind. Sept. 19, 2019) (unpublished); see also Peterson v. Port of Benton Cty., No. 17-0191, 2019 WL 1299373, at \*6 (E.D. Wash. Mar. 21, 2019) (unpublished) ("Whether the defendant acted with retaliatory intent is a question of fact . . . .") (quotation omitted); Cincinnati Ins. Co. v. Orten, No. 17-0036, 2019 WL 6895980, at \*6 (M.D. Tenn. Feb. 5, 2019) (unpublished) ("Mens rea is a question of fact properly decided by a criminal jury."); Prudential Ins. Co. of Am. v. Govel, No. 16-0297, 2017 WL 2455106, at \*8 (N.D.N.Y. June 6, 2017) (unpublished) ("[T]he question whether a defendant possessed a 'reckless' mens rea is a question of fact properly left to the trier of fact ....") (quotation omitted); Whitney Info. Network v. Weiss, No. 06-6569, 2008 WL 731024, at \*7 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 18, 2008) (unpublished) ("[T]he nature and extent of Defendant's mens rea is a question of fact not appropriate for disposition under Rule 12(b)(6).").

#### B. THE COURT OF APPEALS' OPINION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH WATNESS V. CITY OF SEATTLE.

In *Watness*, the decedent's estate submitted that "diminished capacity, due to a mental illness," impaired the decedent's "ability to form the specific intent to commit a crime" and submitted evidence of the decedent's "incapacity to form intent to commit felonious assault or attempted murder at the time of her shooting" in the form of expert opinion. 481 P.3d at 580. The trial court excluded the estate's expert opinion and granted summary judgment on behalf of the City of Seattle and its officers.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's evidentiary rulings, holding that while "**[a] jury** may infer criminal intent from a defendant's conduct," the estate's evidence that the decedent "was suffering from a psychosis at the time of the shooting that impaired her ability to form this *mens rea*" was relevant under ER 702 to show "incapacity to form intent to commit felonious assault or attempted murder." *Id.* at 580 (emphasis added, quotation omitted). The Court of Appeals also held that the expert testimony in the form of "a psychological autopsy" was sound and admissible under *Frye v. U.S.*, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir 1923). *Id.* at 580-81.

Here, Petitioners submit that because the Respondent "lacks the diminished capacity evidence required by *Watness*" the Court of Appeals' Opinion is in conflict with *Watness*. Petition for Review, at 18. Not so. Nothing in *Watness* upends the rule that while "<u>a</u> <u>jury</u> may infer it[tent] from . . . circumstantial evidence," determining intent is within the exclusive province of a jury. *Watness*, 481 P.3d at 580 (emphasis added). While evidence in the form of expert testimony to support a diminished capacity defense is certainly helpful in making that argument to a jury, nothing in *Watness* requires a plaintiff (1) to assert a diminished capacity defense, or (2) provide intent evidence in the form of expert opinion.

This much is true: under the rule affirmed in both *Davis* and *Watness*, "any plaintiff that commits a felonious act c[an] avoid summary judgment by the mere argument she did not have the requisite intent." Petition for Review, at 19. Indeed, it has been clearly established for decades that "[h]owever clear the proof may be, or however incontrovertible may seem to the judge to be the inference of a criminal intention, the question of intent can never be ruled as a question of law, but must always be submitted to the jury." *Morrissette*, 342 U.S. at 274. While Petitioners may not like this rule, it is well settled that the right to have juries and not judges

determine criminal intent is fundamental. Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508

U.S. 275, 277 (1993).

## C. A DEFENDANT IS BARRED FROM EMPLOYING THE FELONY BAR DEFENSE AT SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE INTENT IS AN ELEMENT OF THE UNDERLYING ALLEGED FELONY.

Petitioner's argument that "*Davis* effectively obliterates the defense" is hyperbole. Petition for Review, at 20. That the question of intent cannot be determined as a question of law does not mean that RCW 4.24.420 cannot apply where the underlying alleged felony contains a specific intent element. Juries can be, and very often are, instructed on the statute. *See* WPI 16.01. The Court of Appeals was correct that "[t]he plain language of the statute does not require that a person be convicted of a felony or admit to felonious conduct before RCW 4.24.420 is a complete defense to a civil action." *Davis*, 479 P.3d at 1187. But absent a conviction or an admission, the defense is simply unavailable *at the summary judgment* stage.

Earlier this month, our state legislature passed ESSB 5263, amending RCW 4.24.420 to "clarify to the judiciary" that alleged felonious intent in an action arising out of law enforcement activities resulting in personal injury or death cannot "be decided on summary judgment by a judge, but need[s] to be decided by a finder of fact, primarily the jury." H.B. Rep. on Engrossed Substitute Senate Bill 5263, 67th Leg., Reg. Sess., at 3 (Wash. 2021). In addition, the new RCW 4.24.420 raises the defendants' burden by requiring that "the finder of fact" determine "beyond a reasonable doubt that the person injured or killed was engaged in the commission of a felony." Engrossed Substitute Senate Bill 5263, 67th Leg. (Wash. 2021). The legislation is currently on Governor Jay Inslee's desk and is expected to be signed into law next week. Since on remand the trial court will very likely be required to apply this amended language, Petitioner's appeal to RAP 13.4(b)(4) falls flat. In re Dependency of A.M.M., 182 Wash. App. 776, 789, 332 P.3d 500, 507 (2014) (citing Bradley v. Sch. Bd. of City of Richmond, 416 U.S. 696, 711, 94 S.Ct. 2006, 40 L.Ed.2d 476 (1974); Wash. State Farm Bureau Fed'n v. Gregoire, 162 Wash.2d 284, 304, 174 P.3d 1142 (2007)).

#### V. CONCLUSION

This Court should decline review. The Court of Appeals' Opinion is in line with every single court to have analyzed the issue. Petitioner also fails to present an issue of substantial public interest, especially considering that RCW 4.24.420 will in all likelihood no longer take its current form by the time the Court reviews the Petition.